SCOTTISH STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

2016 No. 133

HOUSING

The Letting Agent Code of Practice (Scotland) Regulations 2016

Made - - - - 25th February 2016

Coming into force - - 31st January 2018

The Scottish Ministers make the following Regulations in exercise of the powers conferred by section 46(1) of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2014(a) and all other powers enabling them to do so.

In accordance with section 46(3) of that Act they have consulted such persons as they consider appropriate.

In accordance with section 101(2)(d) of that Act, a draft of this instrument has been laid before and approved by resolution of the Scottish Parliament.

Citation and commencement

1. These Regulations may be cited as the Letting Agent Code of Practice (Scotland) Regulations 2016 and come into force on 31st January 2018.

Letting Agent Code of Practice

2. The Letting Agent Code of Practice, which is set out in the Schedule, has effect.

M J BURGESS Authorised to sign by the Scottish Ministers

St Andrew's House, Edinburgh 25th February 2016

Letting Agent Code of Practice

CONTENTS

1. Introduction

Background

Who does the Code apply to?

What if a letting agent does not comply with the Code?

How do the requirements of professional bodies and other legislation relate to the Code?

Using the Code

2. Overarching standards of practice

3. Engaging landlords

Before taking instructions

Terms of business

Ending the agreement

4. Lettings

Marketing and advertising

Giving correct information to prospective tenants

Charging fees

Viewings

Applications

References and checks

Tenancy agreement

Tenancy deposits

Moving in (inventory/check-in)

5. Management and maintenance

Rent collection

Property access and visits

Carrying out repairs and maintenance

Contractors and third parties

6. Ending the tenancy

Bringing the tenancy to an end

Inventory/check-out

Tenancy deposits

7. Communications and resolving complaints

Communications

Complaints resolution

8. Handling landlords' and tenants' money, and insurance arrangements

Client accounts

Debt recovery

Professional indemnity arrangements

Provision of insurance products

Criminal activity

SECTION 1

Introduction

Background

- **1.** This Letting Agent Code of Practice (the "Code") sets out the standards expected of letting agents operating in Scotland in how they manage their business and provide their services.
- **2.** Section 46 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2014 ("the 2014 Act") allows Scottish Ministers to set out a code of practice that all letting agents must comply with that covers:
 - the standards of practice for those carrying out letting agency work;
 - the handling of tenants' and landlords' money; and
 - the professional indemnity arrangements to be kept in place.
- **3.** The Code forms part of a broader regulatory framework for letting agents, which the 2014 Act also introduced. The framework's main features are:
 - a mandatory register for letting agents with an associated 'fit and proper' person test;
 - powers for Scottish Ministers to set training requirements that must be met before an applicant can be accepted on to the register;
 - a means of redress for breaches of the Code to the First-tier Tribunal for landlords and tenants; and
 - powers for Scottish Ministers to obtain information, and powers of inspection to help them monitor compliance.
- **4.** These measures strengthen regulation of the letting-agent industry in Scotland. Letting agents are important in ensuring the private rented sector is professional and well managed, and they help to provide the good-quality homes our communities need. The Code reflects much of the existing good practice in the industry. It will help raise standards (where this is needed), and help build a more effective private rented sector that meets the needs of tenants, landlords and letting agents.

Who does the Code apply to?

5. The Code applies to every person who carries out letting agency work in Scotland, which is defined in section 61(1) of the 2014 Act as:

"things done by a person in the course of that person's business in response to relevant instructions which are—

- (a) carried out with a view to a landlord who is a relevant person entering into, or seeking to enter into a lease or occupancy agreement by virtue of which an unconnected person may use the landlord's house as a dwelling, or
- (b) for the purposes of managing a house (including in particular collecting rent, inspecting the house and making arrangements for the repair, maintenance, improvement or insurance of the house) which is, or is to be, subject to a lease or arrangement mentioned in paragraph (a)."
- **6.** The Code will also help landlords and tenants understand the standards of practice they can expect from a letting agent; whether these standards have been met; and, where necessary, help to resolve problems through the First-tier tribunal if they believe a letting agent has failed to comply with the Code.

What if a letting agent does not comply with the Code?

7. If a landlord or tenant (including former landlord or tenant) believes that a letting agent they have let a property through or from has failed to comply with the Code, they must notify the letting agent of this in writing (this includes electronic communications), so the letting agent can

take action to resolve the issue. Some letting agents may also offer access to an independent alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service if they cannot resolve a complaint internally. If the landlord or tenant remains dissatisfied after raising their complaint with the agent, they can apply to the First-tier Tribunal (the "Tribunal"). In addition, Scottish Ministers may also apply to the Tribunal where they have concerns that a letting agent has failed to comply with the Code.

- **8.** The 2014 Act enables the Tribunal to decide whether a letting agent has failed to comply with the Code. To help with this, the Tribunal will consider a variety of evidence from, for example, the letting agent, landlord, tenant, Scottish Ministers and other relevant organisations (such as trading standards). Depending on the nature of the complaint, the Tribunal may look at whether the agent's own terms of business, policies and procedures comply with the Code and whether they have kept to them. A letting agent should therefore keep and maintain appropriate records to help demonstrate how they have complied with the Code.
- **9.** If the Tribunal decides a letting agent has failed to comply with the Code, it must issue an enforcement order setting out the steps the letting agent must take to rectify the problem and by when. These steps may include issuing revised documents and making changes to previously agreed terms of business. An enforcement order may also require a letting agent to pay compensation.
- **10.** If the Tribunal decides that a letting agent has failed to comply with the enforcement order, it must notify Scottish Ministers. Failure to comply with an enforcement order will be taken into account in considering whether a letting agent should be removed from the register. It is a criminal offence for a person who is not a registered letting agent to carry out letting agency work.

How do the requirements of professional bodies and other legislation relate to the Code?

- 11. There is a range of legislation that letting agents must comply with in how they do business. This includes Scottish, UK and European legislation and covers areas such as housing, consumer protection, financial services, consumer credit licences, contracts, title conditions, health and safety, data protection, immigration and equalities amongst others.
- 12. All letting agents must comply with the Code but some may also have specific commitments to meet the regulatory requirements of other bodies, such as the Financial Conduct Authority and Law Society of Scotland. In addition, letting agents may also have to comply with other codes if they belong to or are registered with other voluntary or industry bodies.

Using the Code

- **13.** The Code has been structured to follow the lettings process from taking instructions from a landlord, letting and managing the property to the ending of a tenancy (including any arrangements that follow).
- **14.** Most letting agents offer a wide range of services to their customers. Where a letting agent provides a service set out in this Code they must ensure it is delivered in a way that meets these requirements and those of any other relevant legislation. This Code does not comprise legal advice to any party.
 - 15. In the Code "you" means a letting agent.

SECTION 2

Section 2: Overarching standards of practice

- 16. You must conduct your business in a way that complies with all relevant legislation.
- **17.** You must be honest, open, transparent and fair in your dealings with landlords and tenants (including prospective and former landlords and tenants).
 - 18. You must provide information in a clear and easily accessible way.
 - 19. You must not provide information that is deliberately or negligently misleading or false.
 - **20.** You must apply your policies and procedures consistently and reasonably.
- **21.** You must carry out the services you provide to landlords or tenants using reasonable care and skill and in a timely way.
- **22.** You must not unlawfully discriminate against a landlord, tenant or prospective tenant on the basis of their age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief or sexual orientation.
- **23.** You must ensure all staff and any sub-contracting agents are aware of, and comply with, the Code and your legal requirements on the letting of residential property.
- **24.** You must maintain appropriate records of your dealings with landlords, tenants and prospective tenants. This is particularly important if you need to demonstrate how you have met the Code's requirements.
- **25.** You must ensure you handle all private information sensitively and in line with legal requirements.
- **26.** You must respond to enquiries and complaints within reasonable timescales and in line with your written agreement.
- **27.** You must inform the appropriate person, the landlord or tenant (or both) promptly of any important issues or obligations on the use of the property that you become aware of, such as a repair or breach of the tenancy agreement.
- **28.** You must not communicate with landlords or tenants in any way that is abusive, intimidating or threatening.

Some of these points are expanded in the later sections of the Code.

SECTION 3

Engaging landlords

Before taking instructions

29. In your dealings with potential landlord clients you must:

Services provided and fee charges

(a) provide clear and up-to-date written information about the services you provide and the charges (inclusive of taxes) for them;

Advice

(b) offer accurate and unbiased advice on the rental valuation and appraisal of the property. You must not knowingly misrepresent the potential rental valuation;

- (c) inform the landlord that they need to get consent or delegated authority from all owners, mortgage lenders or other relevant parties before letting the property and the need to ensure relevant insurance cover is in place;
- (d) if you become aware in the course of your business that a property does not meet appropriate letting standards (e.g. repairing standard, houses in multiple occupation and health and safety requirements), inform the landlord of this;
- (e) if a landlord is not already registered, inform them of the landlord registration requirements under the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004(a) and, where necessary, the requirements under the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006(b) relating to houses in multiple occupation;

Conflict of interest

(f) if you intend to act for clients who have competing interests or your personal interests conflict, or could potentially conflict, inform the clients as soon as you become aware of it:

Identity checks

(g) take reasonable steps to check the identity of each landlord to ensure that they are who they say they are and that they are the legal owners of the property or have permission from the owner or power of attorney – for instance, asking for an official form of identification; proof of address; proof of ownership and, where applicable, landlord registration number or company registration number.

Terms of business

- **30.** You must agree with the landlord what services you will provide and any other specific terms of engagement. This should include the minimum service standards they can expect and the target times for taking action in response to requests from them and their tenants.
- **31.** If you know that a client is not meeting their legal obligations as a landlord and is refusing or unreasonably delaying complying with the law, you must not act on their behalf. In these circumstances, you must inform the appropriate authorities, such as the local authority, that the landlord is failing to meet their obligations.
- **32.** Your terms of business must be written in plain language and, alongside any other reasonable terms you wish to include, must clearly set out:

Core services

(a) the services you will provide to that landlord and the property they relate to. For example, tenant introduction, lettings service and full management service;

Duration

(b) the duration of the agreement and the date it commences;

Authority to act

- (c) a statement about the basis of your authority to act on the landlord's behalf;
- (d) where applicable, a statement of any level of delegated authority, for example financial thresholds for instructing repairs to the property and the purchase of replacement goods;
- (e) situations in which you may act without checking with the landlord first, for example urgent repairs;

⁽a) 2004 asp 8.

⁽b) 2006 asp 1.

Fees, charges and financial arrangements

- (f) your management fees and charges (including taxes) for your services, and your processes for reviewing and increasing or decreasing this fee;
- (g) how you will collect payment including timescales and methods and any charges for late payment;
- (h) that where applicable, a statement setting out details of any financial interest in providing third-party services (for example, commission for using certain companies, products or services) is available from you on request;

Tenancy deposits

(i) if a tenancy deposit is to be taken, who will lodge the deposit with one of the approved schemes:

Communication and complaints

- (j) that you are subject to this Code and give your clients a copy on request. This may be provided electronically;
- (k) how you will communicate (including the use of electronic communication(a) with landlords and tenants, and the timescales within which you could be reasonably expected to respond to enquiries;
- (l) your procedures for handling complaints and disputes between you and the landlord and tenants and the timescales within which you could be reasonably expected to respond;
- (m) how a landlord and tenant may apply to the Tribunal if they remain dissatisfied after your complaints process has been exhausted, or if you do not process the complaint within a reasonable timescale through your complaints handling procedure;

Conflict of interest

(n) a declaration of any conflict or potential conflict of interest;

Professional indemnity insurance

(o) confirmation that you hold professional indemnity insurance or equivalent protection through another body or membership organisation and that further details (such as the name of your provider, your policy number and a summary of the policy) are available from you on request;

Handling client money

(p) how you handle clients' money; confirmation that you hold client money protection insurance or equivalent protection through another body or membership organisation and that further details (such as the name of your provider, your policy number and a summary of the policy) are available from you on request;

How to change or end the terms of business

(q) clear information on how to change or end the agreement and any fees or charges (inclusive of taxes) that may apply and in what circumstances. Termination charges and related terms must not be unreasonable or excessive.

⁽a) See sections 7 and 15 of the Electronic Communications Act 2000 (c.7).

- **33.** You and the landlord must both sign and date your agreed terms of business and you must give the landlord a copy for their records. If you and the landlord agree, this can be done using electronic communication including an electronic signature(a).
- **34.** In line with the Consumer Contracts (Information, Cancellation and Additional Charges) Regulations 2013(**b**), in most cases you must give landlords 14 calendar days in which to cancel if the agreement is signed away from your premises.
- **35.** Any subsequent changes to your terms of business should be agreed by both parties and confirmed in line with your agreement (see paragraph 32 (q)).
- **36.** If a landlord or tenant (including former landlord and tenant) applies to the Tribunal because they think you have failed to meet your Code obligations, the Tribunal may, depending on the nature of the circumstances, expect you to show how your actions meet your agreed terms of business as part of complying with the Code.

Ending the agreement

- **37.** When either party ends the agreement, you must:
 - (a) give the landlord written confirmation you are no longer acting for them. It must set out the date the agreement ends; any fees or charges owed by the landlord and any funds owed to them; and the arrangements including timescales for returning the property to the landlord for example, the handover of keys, relevant certificates and other necessary documents. Unless otherwise agreed, you must return any funds due to the landlord (less any outstanding debts) automatically at the point of settlement of the final bill.
 - (b) if tenants are still living in the managed property or properties, inform the tenants you will no longer be acting as an agent for the landlord and inform them of the landlord's name and contact details if these have not already been provided, or where relevant, those of any new agent. You must also inform the tenants of any resulting changes that affect them.

SECTION 4

Lettings

Marketing and advertising

- **38.** Your advertising and marketing must be clear, accurate and not knowingly or negligently misleading.
- **39.** You must get the landlord's permission for advertising and marketing a property, including the erection of a lettings board.
- **40.** You must take all reasonable steps to ensure your letting agent registration number is included in all property advertisements or communications.
- **41.** You must comply with relevant legislation on the marketing and advertising of properties for rent. For example, you must include a landlord's registration number (or clearly state 'landlord registration pending') and the energy performance indicator from the property's energy performance certificate (EPC) in your property advertisements and remove lettings boards within 14 days of the property being let.
- **42.** You must not advertise in a way that unlawfully discriminates on the basis of a person's age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief or sexual orientation.

⁽a) See sections 7 and 15 of the Electronic Communications Act 2000.

⁽b) S.I. 2013/3134; to which there are amendments not relevant to this instrument.

Giving correct information to prospective tenants

- **43.** You must give prospective tenants all relevant information about renting the property for example, the length and type of tenancy; the rent; the deposit; other financial obligations such as council tax; any guarantor requirements and what pre-tenancy checks will be required at the outset.
- **44.** You must also inform prospective tenants how to apply and, where appropriate, the arrangements for viewing the property.
- **45.** You must make prospective tenants aware of the Code and give them a copy on request, this may be provided electronically.
- **46.** You must not knowingly omit relevant information or evade questions from prospective tenants relating to the letting of the property in line with consumer protection legislation.

Charging fees

- **47.** You must comply with all relevant legislation on the charging of fees and premiums or making loans to tenants and prospective tenants in the private rented sector.
- **48.** In particular you must comply with section 82 of the Rent (Scotland) Act 1984(a), which prohibits any person, as a condition of the grant, renewal or continuance of an assured or short assured tenancy, from requiring a tenant or prospective tenant to pay any charges except rent and a refundable deposit of no more than two months' rent.
- **49.** You must not, as a condition of granting the tenancy, require tenants to use a third-party service that charges them a fee.

Viewings

- **50.** You must agree with the landlord how prospective tenants will view their property and who will conduct the viewings.
- **51.** In deciding how you will conduct viewings on the landlord's behalf, you should make sure you do not unlawfully discriminate against a person protected by the Equality Act 2010(**b**) (also see paragraph 22).
- **52.** If you are to conduct viewings on the landlord's behalf, you must ensure the keys to the property are kept secure and maintain detailed records of their use by staff for instance, the date the keys were issued, who to and when they were returned. You must take all reasonable steps to ensure the property is left secure after viewings.
- **53.** If a tenant lives at the property, you must give them reasonable notice of appointments (at least 24 hours in line with your statutory requirements), unless other arrangements for viewings have been agreed with them. You must ensure the tenant is present, unless otherwise agreed (see also paragraphs 80 to 84 on property access).

Applications

- **54.** You must agree with the landlord the criteria and process for managing and approving tenancy applications from prospective tenants.
- **55.** You must inform the landlord in writing of all applications made on the property as soon as possible, unless agreed otherwise with the landlord, along with all relevant information about the offer and the applicant.

9

⁽a) 1984 c.58; section 82 was amended by section 32(1) of the Private Rented Housing (Scotland) Act 2011 (asp 14).

⁽b) 2010 c.15.

56. Applicants must be informed as soon as possible about the outcome of their application.

References and checks

- **57.** You must agree with the landlord what references you will take and checks you will make on their behalf.
- **58.** If you are to check references and make other checks, you must explain to the applicant and any guarantor what information you will check and who will do the checking, and get their written permission.
- **59.** If you have contracted a third party to check references, or require prospective tenants to use a specific third party, the third party referencing service must not charge the tenant a fee (see also paragraphs 47 to 49 on charging fees).
- **60.** You must ensure you handle all private information sensitively and in line with legal requirements such as the law relating to data protection.
- **61.** You must take all reasonable steps to confirm the applicant's identity and to verify references, in line with your agreement with the landlord.

Tenancy agreement

- **62.** If you prepare a tenancy agreement on the landlord's behalf, you must ensure it meets all relevant legal requirements and includes all relevant information (such as the name and address of the landlord or name and address of the letting agent and the identity of the landlord; type; length of tenancy where it is a short assured tenancy; amount of rent and deposit and how and when they will be paid; whether it is a house in multiple occupation; as well as any other responsibilities on taking care of the property, such as upkeep of communal areas and the cleaning required at the end of the tenancy); and any specifically negotiated clauses (for instance whether there will be landlord or agent inspections/visits) agreed between the landlord and the prospective tenant. The agreement must also include the landlord's registration number.
- **63.** If you arrange for the tenancy agreement to be signed, you must give prospective tenants enough time to familiarise themselves with the agreement; give them the opportunity to raise any questions about their rights and obligations under the agreement; give them the opportunity and time to seek independent advice; and give them any other formal documents required before they sign the agreement.
- **64.** At the start of the tenancy, you must give the tenant a signed copy of the tenancy agreement along with any other relevant statutory documents.

Tenancy deposits

- **65.** You must inform the landlord of the statutory requirements on tenancy deposits under the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 and the Tenancy Deposit Schemes (Scotland) Regulations 2011(**a**).
- **66.** If you lodge tenancy deposits on a landlord's behalf, you must ensure compliance with the legislation.

Moving in (inventory/check-in)

- **67.** If there is delay in handing over the property to the tenant on the agreed date, you must inform them of this and explain why as soon as possible.
- **68.** If you are responsible for managing the check-in process, you must produce an inventory (which may include a photographic record) of all the things in the property (for example, furniture

(a) S.S.I. 2011/176.

and equipment) and the condition of these and the property (for example marks on walls, carpets other fixtures) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the landlord. Where an inventory and schedule of condition is produced, you and the tenant must both sign the inventory confirming it is correct.

- **69.** If the tenant is not present for the making of the inventory, you should ask them to check it and to raise, in writing, any changes or additions within a specific reasonable timescale. Once agreed, the inventory should be signed and returned.
- **70.** You must take reasonable steps to remind the tenant to sign and return the inventory. If the tenant does not, you must inform them, in writing, that you will nevertheless regard it as correct.
 - **71.** You must provide the tenant with a signed copy of the inventory for their records.
- **72.** If the tenant asks in writing for the landlord's name and address, you must tell them free of charge within 21 days.

SECTION 5

Management and maintenance

- **73.** If you have said in your agreed terms of business with a landlord that you will fully or partly manage the property on their behalf, you must provide these services in line with relevant legal obligations, the relevant tenancy agreement and sections of this Code.
- **74.** If you carry out routine visits/inspections, you must record any issues identified and bring these to the tenant's and landlord's attention where appropriate (see also paragraphs 80 to 84 on property access and visits, and paragraphs 85 to 94 on repairs and maintenance).
- **75.** Breaches of the tenancy agreement must be dealt with promptly and appropriately and in line with the tenancy agreement and your agreement with the landlord.

Rent collection

- **76.** You must have appropriate written procedures and processes in place for collecting and handling rent on the landlord's behalf. These must set out how the late payment of rent will be handled and the legal requirements on tax deductions from rent received on behalf of non-resident or overseas landlords and the subsequent payment and reporting requirements. This should outline the steps you will follow and be clearly, consistently and reasonably applied.
- 77. If you collect rent on the landlord's behalf, you must, as a minimum, give the tenant a statement of their rent account on request. Where a tenant pays in cash they must be provided with a receipt.
- **78.** You should inform the landlord in writing of the late payment of rent, in line with your written procedures or agreement with the landlord.
- **79.** In managing any rent arrears, you must be able to demonstrate you have taken all reasonable steps to recover any unpaid rent owed to the landlord (see also section 8).

Property access and visits

- **80.** If you hold keys to the properties you let, you must ensure they are kept secure and maintain detailed records of their use by staff and authorised third parties for instance, by keeping keys separate from property information and holding a record of the date the keys were used, who they were issued to and when they were returned.
 - **81.** You must take reasonable steps to ensure keys are only given to suitably authorised people.

- **82.** You must give the tenant reasonable notice of your intention to visit the property and the reason for this. Section 184 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006(a) specifies that at least 24 hours' notice must be given unless the situation is urgent or you consider that giving such notice would defeat the object of the entry. You must ensure the tenant is present when entering the property and visit at reasonable times of the day unless otherwise agreed with the tenant.
- **83.** If the tenant refuses access, you, the landlord or any third party have no right to enter the property using retained keys without a warrant.
- **84.** You must make it clear to the tenant or occupier beforehand if a third party will visit the property unaccompanied.

Carrying out repairs and maintenance

- **85.** If you are responsible for pre-tenancy checks, managing statutory repairs, maintenance obligations or safety regulations (e.g. electrical safety testing; annual gas safety inspections; Legionella risk assessments) on a landlord's behalf, you must have appropriate systems and controls in place to ensure these are done to an appropriate standard within relevant timescales. You must maintain relevant records of the work.
- **86.** You must put in place appropriate written procedures and processes for tenants and landlords to notify you of any repairs and maintenance (including common repairs and maintenance) required, if you provide this service directly on the landlord's behalf. Your procedure should include target timescales for carrying out routine and emergency repairs.
- **87.** If emergency arrangements are part of your service, you must have in place procedures for dealing with emergencies (including dealing with out-of-hours incidents, if that is part of the service) and for giving contractors access to properties for emergency repairs.
- **88.** You must give the tenant clear information about who will manage any repairs or maintenance, as agreed with the landlord and set out in the tenancy agreement. This includes giving them relevant contact details (e.g. you, the landlord or any third party) and informing them of any specific arrangements for dealing with out-of-hours emergencies.
- **89.** When notified by a tenant of any repairs needing attention, you must manage the repair in line with your agreement with the landlord. Where the work required is not covered by your agreement you should inform the landlord in writing of the work required and seek their instructions on how to proceed.
- **90.** Repairs must be dealt with promptly and appropriately having regard to their nature and urgency and in line with your written procedures.
- **91.** You must inform the tenant of the action you intend to take on the repair and its likely timescale.
- **92.** Where access is needed for repairs you must give the tenant reasonable notice of when access is required unless other arrangements have been agreed. Section 184 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 is also relevant here.
- **93.** If there is any delay in carrying out the repair and maintenance work, you must inform the landlords, tenants or both as appropriate about this along with the reason for it as soon as possible.
- **94.** You must pursue the contractor or supplier to remedy the defects in any inadequate work or service provided.

⁽a) 2006 asp 1; section 184 was amended by section 25(8) of the 2014 Act.

Contractors and third parties

- **95.** If you use a contractor or a third party, you must take reasonable steps to ensure they hold appropriate professional qualifications and the necessary public and professional liability insurance. You should hold copies of all relevant documents.
- **96.** On request, you must disclose to landlords, in writing, whether you receive any commission, fee, rebate or other payment or benefit and any financial or other interest you receive from a contractor/third party you appoint.

SECTION 6

Ending the tenancy

Bringing the tenancy to an end

- **97.** The correct procedure for ending a tenancy depends on such factors as the type of tenancy and the reason it is ending. But in all circumstances you must comply with relevant tenancy law and ensure you follow appropriate legal procedures when seeking to end a tenancy.
- **98.** You must have clear written procedures in place for managing the ending of the tenancy (including where the tenancy is brought to an end by the landlord, or by the tenant or joint tenant; the landlord intends to seek eviction and where a tenancy has been abandoned); the serving of appropriate legal notices; and giving the landlord and tenant all relevant information.
 - **99.** You must apply your policy and procedures consistently and reasonably.
- **100.** You must not try to persuade or force the tenant to leave without following the correct legal process.

Inventory/check-out

- **101.** Before they leave the property you must clearly inform the tenant of their responsibilities such as the standard of cleaning required; the closing of utility accounts and other administrative obligations, e.g. council tax, in line with their tenancy agreement. You must offer them the opportunity to be present at the check-out visit unless there is good reason not to. For example, evidence of violent behaviour.
- **102.** If you are responsible for managing the check-out process, you must ensure it is conducted thoroughly and, if appropriate, prepare a sufficiently detailed report (this may include a photographic record) that makes relevant links to the inventory/schedule of condition where one has been prepared before the tenancy began.
- **103.** If the tenant wishes to be present during the check-out visit, you must give them reasonable notice of the arrangements unless there is good reason not to be present (see also paragraph 101).
- **104.** You must give the tenant clear written information (this may be supported by photographic evidence) about any damage identified during the check-out process and the proposed repair costs with reference to the inventory and schedule of condition if one was prepared.

Tenancy deposits

- **105.** Where you manage the tenancy deposit on behalf of a landlord you must take reasonable steps to come to an agreement with the tenant about deposit repayment. Where agreement is reached you must make a claim to the relevant Tenancy Deposit Scheme.
- **106.** In the event of a dispute, the agent and tenant will be required to follow the relevant scheme's rules for disputes.

SECTION 7

Communications and resolving complaints

Communications

- **107.** You must take all reasonable steps to ensure your letting agent registration number is included in all relevant documents and communications in line with your legal requirements under the 2014 Act.
- **108.** You must respond to enquiries and complaints within reasonable timescales. Overall, your aim should be to deal with enquiries and complaints as quickly and fully as possible and to keep those making them informed if you need more time to respond.
- **109.** You must provide landlords and tenants with your contact details including a current telephone number.
- **110.** You must make landlords and tenants aware of the Code and give them a copy on request, electronically if you prefer.
- **111.** You must not communicate with landlords or tenants in any way that is abusive, intimidating, or threatening.

Complaints resolution

- 112. You must have a clear written complaints procedure that states how to complain to your business and, as a minimum, make it available on request. It must include the series of steps that a complaint may go through, with reasonable timescales linked to those set out in your agreed terms of business.
- 113. The procedure must also set out how you will handle complaints against contractors and third parties; any recourse to the complaints procedures of a professional or membership body you belong to; whether you provide access to alternative dispute resolution services; if you are also subject to another regulatory body (for example the Scottish Legal Complaints Commission); and that a landlord or tenant (including former landlord or tenant) may apply to the Tribunal if they remain dissatisfied once your complaints process has been exhausted, or if you do not process the complaint within a reasonable timescale through your complaints handling procedure.
 - **114.** You must not charge for handling a complaint.
- 115. You must retain (in electronic or paper form) all correspondence about a landlord's or tenant's complaint for five years as the Tribunal may need this information.
- **116.** You must comply with any Tribunal request to provide information about an application made to it from a landlord or tenant.

SECTION 8

Handling landlords' and tenants' money, and insurance arrangements

117. In this section "client money" means money held or rent collected on behalf of a prospective tenant, tenant or landlord (including former tenant or landlord).

Client accounts

- 118. You must have robust and transparent written procedures for handling client money.
- 119. You must keep adequate records and accounts to show all dealings with client money.
- **120.** You must be able to account immediately to them for all money held on behalf of clients.

- **121.** You must ensure you hold client money in one or more separate and dedicated client bank accounts with a bank or building society authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority, separate from your main business or private accounts.
- **122.** You must have written confirmation from any bank or building society where a client account is held that the following conditions apply:
 - (a) that all money standing to the credit of that account is client money; and
 - (b) that the bank or building society is not entitled to combine the account with any other account or exercise any right to set-off or counterclaim against money in that account for any sum owed to the bank or building society on any other of your accounts it holds.
- **123.** You must regularly record and monitor all transactions and reconcile these monthly as a minimum.
- **124.** You must ensure clients' money is available to them on request and is given to them without unnecessary delay or penalties, unless agreed otherwise in writing (for example to take account of any money outstanding for agreed works undertaken).
- 125. You must pay or repay client money as soon as there is no longer any need to retain that money. Unless agreed otherwise in writing by the client, you should where feasible credit interest earned on any client account to the appropriate client.
- **126.** You must hold a client money protection insurance policy unless you can demonstrate equivalent or greater protection through another body or membership organisation. You must give further details (such as the name of your provider, your policy number and a summary of the policy) to them on request.

Debt recovery

- 127. You must have a clear written policy and procedure for debt recovery that lists a series of steps you will follow unless there is good reason not to. This should include setting out at what point you will contact any guarantor. The procedure must be clearly, proportionately and reasonably applied. It must set out how you will deal with disputed debts.
 - 128. Any charges you impose on late payment must not be unreasonable or excessive.
- **129.** When you contact landlords, tenants or guarantors who owe you money, you or any third party acting on your behalf must not act intimidatingly or threateningly. Nor must you knowingly or carelessly misrepresent your authority and/or the correct legal position.

Professional indemnity arrangements

- **130.** You must have, and maintain, adequate professional indemnity insurance that is appropriate for your agency's level of income and type of work unless you can demonstrate equivalent or greater protection through another body or membership organisation.
- **131.** Cover must be on a full civil liability basis and if feasible, this insurance should be fully retroactive.
- **132.** You must give further details (such as the name of your provider, your policy number and a summary of your policy) to them on request.

Provision of insurance products

- **133.** If you are lawfully authorised to offer insurance products to landlords and tenants as part of your services, related costs must be clearly explained and itemised on all relevant documents.
- 134. On request you must disclose to landlords and tenants, in writing, whether you receive any commission, fee, rebate or other payment or benefit from the company arranging or providing insurance cover and any financial or other interest you have with the insurance provider before

they enter into an agreement. You must also disclose on request any other charge you make for providing the insurance.

- 135. If applicable, you must have a procedure in place for making insurance claims on a landlord's behalf and for liaising with the insurer to check that claims are dealt with promptly and correctly. If landlords are responsible for submitting claims on their own behalf, you must supply all information they reasonably need to do so.
- **136.** You must keep the insurance claimant informed of the progress of their claim or give them enough information to allow them to pursue the matter themselves.

Criminal activity

137. You must notify the appropriate authorities, such as the Police or National Crime Agency, if you suspect any person using your services is engaged in money laundering, human trafficking, or another criminal activity.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Regulations)

These Regulations bring into force the Letting Agent Code of Practice set out in the Schedule. It makes provision about—

- (a) the standards of practice of persons who carry out letting agency work;
- (b) the handling of tenants' and landlords' money by those persons; and
- (c) the professional indemnity arrangements to be kept in place by those persons.

A Business Regulatory Impact Assessment has been prepared and placed in the Scottish Parliament Information Centre. Copies can be obtained from Better Homes Division, Victoria Quay, Edinburgh, EH6 6QQ, and are available on line at www.legislation.gov.uk.